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Defendant Douglas R. Goodall appeals from a judgment ofconviction of manslaughter, 17-A M.R.S.A. 
§ 203(1)(A), enteredupon the verdict of a Superior Court jury in Franklin County. Indeciding his 
appeal we address the following principal questions:

1. Under all the circumstances, was the denial of his constitutional right to a free transcript of his 
prior trial harmless error?

2. What is the scope of the definition of an "accomplice" under 17-A M.R.S.A. § 57(3)(A)?

3. What crimes are lesser included offenses of "depraved indifference" murder, 17-A M.R.S.A. § 
201(1)(B)?

4. Was defendant's right to a speedy trial violated?

5. Did the presiding justice commit error by refusing an explicit instruction that the jury must be 
unanimous both as to the offense and as to the principal-or-accomplice theory of criminal liability?

We find no reversible error in the trial that resulted in defendant Goodall's conviction and 
accordingly we deny his appeal.

Facts

In the early morning hours of March 23, 1978, Roland Grant was the victim of a brutal and senseless 
beating while in his own apartment at 1 Greenleaf Avenue in Norway, maine. He was taken to the 
Central Maine Medical Center in Lewiston, where a physical examination revealed that Grant had 
suffered extensive injuries about his face, both eyes were severely bruised, his nose had been 
smashed and was actively bleeding, and there was a large bruised area around the base of his penis. 
As a result of compression and internal hemorrhaging in the area of the brain, all due to the severe 
trauma to the head, Grant died shortly after 11 p.m. that evening. John O. Smith and defendant 
Douglas Goodall were jointly indicted for murder. They were given separate trials. A Superior Court 
jury found Goodall guilty of manslaughter.

From the evidence at trial the jury was justified in finding the following bizarre train of events 
leading to Mr. Grant's death.
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Douglas Goodall and his wife Joan lived in an apartment at 155 Main Street in Norway. John Smith 
had also been staying in the apartment with Sharon Silver, whom Smith had met in a bar a few nights 
before. During the evening of March 22, 1978, all four were in the apartment together. The two men 
had been drinking beer most of the day. At some point Goodall suggested to his wife that they "swap 
partners" for the night. The two men then began to inquire into Sharon Silver's personal life, 
specifically asking about her past sexual relationships. When Silver refused to talk about that subject, 
the two became angry and poured beer over her. Silver went into the bathroom to take a shower and 
changed into dry clothing. During the course of the evening she was doused with beer several more 
times and each time was ordered to take another shower. After one of the showers. Silver was 
violently thrown through the bathroom door by Goodall. Later, he attempted to have intercourse 
with her on the bathroom floor. Smith and Joan Goodall for the most part remained in the kitchen 
while these events were taking place.

Some time around 1 a.m. a dog wandered into the apartment. The two men passed the dog back and 
forth between them. Finally, one of them threw it out the window. Later, the two men, accompanied 
by Silver, stood over the dog as it lay dead in the street. A neighbor, Mr. Laidlaw, came out of his 
house and accused them of killing the dog, whereupon Goodall and Smith became very belligerent. 
Goodall struck Laidlaw in the face three times and, as the latter was retreating from the encounter, 
Smith delivered a "drop kick" (a kick delivered with both feet off the ground) to Laidlaw's back, 
hurtling him face forward onto the street.

Some time later, all four were back in the kitchen of the Goodall apartment. Goodall, encouraged by 
Smith, continued his sexual harassment of Silver. Goodall wrapped a cake of soap in a washcloth and 
attempted to insert it into Silver's vagina. He and Smith agreed that Silver should shave off her pubic 
hair and he ordered her to do so. He then told her to remain naked and to "go streaking" down Main 
Street. It was now about 3:45 a.m.

Frightened, Silver did as she was ordered and ran from the building. She decided to go to the 
apartment of Roland Grant, in whose building she had previously lived. Grant was at home, 
preparing to go to work, and let Silver in. She put on some borrowed clothing and was given a cup of 
coffee. Some ten or twenty minutes later, Goodall and Smith arrived at Grant's door, having knocked 
on several doors in the same building. Goodall told Grant that he knew Silver was in there and that 
he would break the door in at the count of ten if he did not open it. Grant let them in.

Goodall and Smith apologized to Silver for all they had put her through. Grant offered them a beer. 
The beer was warm; Silver went down the hall to the apartment of a neighbor, Carlton Young, to get 
some ice. Goodall followed Silver into Young's apartment and removed a canned ham from the 
refrigerator, offering to pay Young for it. Young refused, saying that it had to last him until his next 
check. Goodall tossed the can at Young, striking him on the side of the head. Smith then kicked 
Young in the ribs, breaking one rib. In the hallway of the building, Goodall accosted the paperboy, 
who was making his morning deliveries. Goodall asked him for a newspaper, but the boy said he did 
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not have any extras. Goodall wrapped an ace bandage around his fist and struck the paperboy three 
times in the face. Smith then unsuccessfully attempted to land a "drop kick" on the paperboy as he 
hurried out the building.

Meanwhile, another tenant named Al Chaisson had gone to Grant's apartment. Soon thereafter, 
Goodall, Smith, and Silver returned, whereupon the two men accused Roland Grant of having taken 
Silver to bed. They said that it didn't look right for an old man to be taking in young girls without any 
clothes on and that there were going to teach him "a lesson." Goodall then escorted Silver to the 
door, telling her he did not want her "to see a horror show." He shut the door behind her, and Silver 
went back to Mr. Young's apartment.

Al Chaisson was sitting in a chair in Grant's living room. A fight began between Smith and Grant. 
Grant was very quickly knocked to the floor, somehow ending up in the bedroom. From his chair, 
Chaisson could see Grant's feet and the lower portion of his legs, and he could see Smith's feet as 
Smith repeatedly kicked at the upper portion of Grant's body. Each time Smith kicked in Grant's 
direction, Chaisson saw Grant's legs move and heard him "grunting and groaning." During this first 
phase of the fight, Goodall stood alongside Chaisson and ordered him to stay put. At some point 
Grant came "back-pedaling" out of the bedroom, having been thrown by Smith, and ended up in the 
kitchen. He went into the bathroom under his own power, emerging with a small length of pipe, 
which was quickly wrested from him by Smith.

Grant was then shoved into the bedroom once again. The second phase of the fight lasted a half hour 
or more, and at one point Goodall joined Smith in the bedroom and they were observed to take turns 
kicking in the direction of the upper portion of Grant's body. Smith and Goodall were talking to each 
other much of the time. At some point Sharon Silver reentered the apartment. As Grant was lying 
bloodied on the floor, she observed Goodall kick Grant in the head so hard that "it vibrated in the 
room." The fight finally ended and the two men returned to the Goodall apartment at 155 Main 
Street. Silver went with them to get back her own clothing.

Arriving exhausted at the Goodall apartment, Silver decided to go to sleep on the living room sofa. 
Before going to sleep, however, she overheard a conversation between Goodall and Smith, who were 
bragging to Joan Goodall about what they had just done. Specifically, Goodall stated, "We just kicked 
the shit out of an old man." Goodall said he had repeatedly hit Grant in the nose, adding, "He should 
have stayed down when I put him down." Goodall and Smith then went to sleep.

Approximately one hour later, officer Millett of the Norway police arrived at the Goodall apartment 
and placed Goodall and Smith under arrest. They were taken to the Oxford County Sheriff's 
Department. After being read his Miranda rights, Goodall agreed to talk to Millett. Goodall related 
the incident concerning the dog and Mr. Laidlaw. He then told in some detail about many of the 
events that had occurred earlier that morning at Roland Grant's apartment, including the incident 
involving Mr. Young. He admitted forcing his way into Grant's apartment and later saying he would 
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"teach the old man a lesson" for taking in young girls without any clothes on. He confirmed 
Chaisson's presence in the apartment during the fight, saying, "[W]e sat him in a chair in the corner 
and told him not to move." Finally, he admitted that he and Smith had beaten Grant and that they 
had used as weapons just their fists and feet. When the interview was concluded, Goodall was 
informed that he was charged with aggravated assault. The charge was later changed to murder after 
it was learned that Grant had died.

On April 11, 1978, a probable cause hearing was held for both defendants in District Court at South 
Paris. The court had appointed separate counsel to represent Goodall and Smith.1 The State's 
evidence consisted of the testimony of three key witnesses: Al Chaisson, Sharon Silver, and Dr. 
Theodore, a pathologist who had performed the autopsy on Roland Grant's body. Probable cause was 
found and the two defendants were bound over for the grand jury.

On May 8, 1978, an Oxford County grand jury returned an indictment which charged:

On or about the 23rd day of March, 1978, in the County of Oxford, State of Maine, DOUGLAS R. 
GOODALL and JOHN O. SMITH did engage in conduct which manifested a depraved indifference 
to the value of human life, which conduct in fact caused the death of ROLAND GRANT.

See 17-A M.R.S.A. § 201(1)(B). Goodall was first tried before an Oxford County jury on November 27 
to December 1, 1978. When the jury announced that it was hopelessly deadlocked, the presiding 
justice declared a mistrial.

Less than two months later, beginning on January 22, 1979, Goodall was tried a second time before a 
jury in Franklin County, to which the venue had been changed. The second trial resulted in the 
conviction now on appeal. The same Superior Court justice presided, and the same Official Court 
Reporter acted, in both trials.

I. Denial of the Trial Transcript

Defendant's attorney was provided with a transcript of the probable cause hearing, which contained 
the testimony of the State's key witnesses, for use at the first trial. After that trial ended in a hung 
jury, defendant moved for a transcript of the first trial for use at his second trial. The presiding 
justice denied the motion, noting in the margin: "No particularized need was shown by defendant." 
Defendant asserts that the ruling was error and that such error requires that this court grant him a 
new trial.

Britt v. North Carolina, 404 U.S. 226, 92 S.Ct. 431, 30 L.Ed.2d 400 (1971), declares that it is error to 
deny an indigent defendant a free transcript of his first trial that ended in a mistrial unless he has 
available an adequate alternative to the transcript.2 We recently applied the rule of Britt in State v. 
Curtis, Me., 399 A.2d 1330 (1979), a decision issued subsequent to both Goodall trials. Britt and Curtis 
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recognized that a showing of "particularized need" — such as that which the trial justice apparently 
demanded of defendant — is unnecessary. Britt, supra 404 U.S. at 228, 92 S.Ct. 431. Thus, it was error 
for the justice to deny the requested transcript. Further, under the constitutional strictures of Britt, 
we hold that there was no alternative device available to defense counsel that could serve completely 
the same functions as a transcript.

Although we find error, we find that it was beyond a reasonable doubt harmless error within the rule 
of Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967). We conclude that the 
unavailability to defense counsel of the transcript of the first trial did not have any effect upon the 
jury's determination of guilt in the instant case. In contrast to our conclusion in Curtis, we are here 
able to say with confidence after a careful study of the full record — including the transcript of the 
first trial prepared for purpose of the appeal on this issue — "that beyond a reasonable doubt the 
[conviction] in the Superior Court [trial] would have been unchanged." Curtis, supra at 1333. The 
evidence of defendant's guilt is so overwhelming and the uses to which defendant could have put the 
prior transcript are so inconsequential that beyond a reasonable doubt the jury that convicted 
Goodall would have convicted him in any event.

Ordinarily it can be expected that a transcript of a prior mistrial may be valuable to the defense in 
any of three ways: as a discovery device in preparation for the second trial, as a tool at the second 
trial for the impeachment of witnesses,3 and as substantive evidence in that trial.4 In the case at bar, 
defendant has made no assertion that his lawyer (who represented him at all times) was hampered in 
any way in obtaining further discovery, nor is there any apparent basis upon which such an argument 
could be made.5 There is likewise no argument that the prior recorded testimony was needed as 
substantive evidence on behalf of defendant at his second trial. Defendant's one and only claim of 
prejudice arises from the unavailability of the transcript to use to impeach witnesses by prior 
inconsistent statements. Our inquiry is further influenced by the fact that, at the second trial, defense 
counsel did have available a complete transcript of the probable cause hearing, which included 88 
pages of cross-examination of the State's key witnesses conducted by defense counsel himself, and 
the record of the second trial is replete with instances of its use for impeachment. Thus the narrow 
question which we address is whether there was any impeachment material available only from the 
transcript of the first trial that, if used at the second trial, could conceivably have led to a different 
result.

At the outset, we note that the circumstances of both trials were substantially the same. A highly 
experienced trial lawyer was appointed to represent Goodall on March 24, 1978, the day after his 
arrest, and has continued to represent him at the probable cause hearing, at the first and second 
trials, and on this appeal. At both trials that lead counsel was assisted by his law partner, who also 
appeared as trial counsel. The second trial started on January 22, 1979, only 52 days after the first 
trial. The very same justice presided at both trials, with the same court reporter recording the 
proceedings. The identical principal witnesses appeared at both trials. Finally, defendant took the 
stand on his own behalf at both trials.

https://www.anylaw.com/case/state-v-goodall/supreme-judicial-court-of-maine/10-22-1979/2rO4TGYBTlTomsSBRI_V
https://www.anylaw.com/?utm_source=anylaw&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=pdf


STATE v. GOODALL
407 A.2d 268 (1979) | Cited 34 times | Supreme Judicial Court of Maine | October 22, 1979

www.anylaw.com

At the second trial, the presiding justice offered to have the court reporter search her notes of the 
first trial and to read back any statements a witness denied having made at the first trial. Although 
defense counsel's memory of testimony at the first trial held less than two months before and the 
opportunity to have portions of the prior testimony read back to the witnesses did not constitute a 
fully adequate alternative to the transcript, cf. Britt, supra 404 U.S. at 228-29, 92 S.Ct. 431, they did go 
a substantial distance in negating any prejudicial consequences that might otherwise have resulted 
from the lack of a trial transcript in this particular case.6 The record of the second trial specifically 
reveals that, even without the first trial transcript, defense counsel did in fact cross-examine 
extensively in an attempt to impeach the credibility of the State's witnesses.

With regard to the eight witnesses who testified at the first trial but not at the probable cause 
hearing, we have compared their testimony at the first trial with that at the second trial, and we find 
that it is remarkably consistent. Furthermore, the great bulk of their testimony went to matters that 
were not in dispute. No impeachment of any consequence would have been possible using the trial 
transcript.

Defendant points to only one area of inconsistent testimony among those eight witnesses. That was 
Joan Goodall's testimony as to the conversation at the kitchen table between Goodall and Smith after 
they had returned from Roland Grant's apartment. Because at the second trial she testified in rather 
greater detail than at the first as to specific statements made by the two men concerning the beating 
of Roland Grant, defendant asserts the trial transcript was indispensable to impeaching her 
testimony on that point. The fact is, however, that on cross-examination defense counsel successfully 
impeached her on the basis of her prior lack of memory on two separate occasions, including the first 
trial. First, counsel engaged in lengthy impeaching cross-examination based on his interview with 
her in late March right after the incident. Second, based on counsel's recollection of her testimony at 
the first trial, the following exchange took place:

Q . . . Do you remember testifying under oath the last time we were — the last time you were 
testifying under oath about this that you couldn't remember who had said what in terms of what was 
said when they came back to the apartment?

A That's what I said last time.

Q Pardon?

A I said yes, that's what I said last time.

Q And you were [under] oath at the time when you said it?

A Yes.
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With regard to the testimony of the State's two principal witnesses, Chaisson and Silver, the 
transcript of the probable cause hearing, which defense counsel had available and in fact used 
extensively, was far more useful than the trial transcript would have been; defense counsel would 
have gained nothing from the trial transcript. First, we consider the testimony of Al Chaisson. 
Defendant contends that in three crucial respects his lawyer was hampered by the lack of the trial 
transcript. First, Chaisson testified at the second trial that during the first phase of the fight Goodall 
stood beside him and told him to stay put and at one point pushed him back into his chair. In that 
testimony he went somewhat further than he had been willing to go in the two prior proceedings and 
could have been impeached. His testimony at the hearing, however, was far more at variance with 
what he said at the second trial; the hearing transcript was easily sufficient for impeachment on that 
line of testimony.

Second, Chaisson testified at all three proceedings that Goodall and Smith took turns kicking Grant. 
The testimony at the first trial, however, was at least as damaging as that at the second trial. If 
anything could have helped defendant, it was the transcript of the probable cause hearing, at which 
Chaisson, in clarifying his testimony, said that Goodall kicked Grant only "two or three times." In 
fact, defense counsel successfully brought out that prior testimony in cross-examining Chaisson at 
the second trial.

Third, Chaisson testified at the probable cause hearing that while he was sitting in a chair in the 
living room, Smith came over and broke a mop handle over his head and later threw a chair at him. 
At the first trial, he could not recall which one of them had done it. At the second trial, however, he 
stated that Goodall had done it. Thus, of the two instances of prior inconsistent testimony, that 
contained in the hearing transcript revealed a flat contradiction; that was clearly more useful for 
impeachment purposes than testimony as to a lack of memory. In fact, the record is quite clear that 
on cross-examination counsel confronted Chaisson with the specific questions and answers 
contained in the hearing transcript and, on that basis, was successful in convincing the witness to 
retract his direct testimony and to adopt his former testimony that Smith — not Goodall — had 
struck him with the mop handle and had thrown the chair at him. Any use of the trial transcript at 
that point would have been superfluous.

With respect to the testimony of Sharon Silver, we are similarly convinced that the unavailability of 
the trial transcript resulted in no prejudice whatever to defendant. Defendant points to one area of 
the testimony which he deems crucial, her statement that when she reentered Grant's apartment and 
saw Grant lying bloodied on the floor, she observed Goodall deliver a very hard kick to Grant's head. 
Defense counsel desired to show, and presumably argued to the jury, that Silver could not possibly 
have made the observation she testified to because at the time her "mind was blown." Silver admitted 
at both trials that her "mind was blank" and that she had suffered "a complete nervous breakdown" 
just prior to making the observation at issue. Nevertheless, defense counsel persisted in attempting 
to elicit testimony that her mind was "blown." On cross-examination, he asked Silver whether or not 
she had previously so testified, to which she responded, "No." Defendant asserts that he was 
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prejudiced by not having the trial transcript readily available at that point. In fact, there was no prior 
inconsistent statement made at the first trial; her testimony was the same at both trials. The 
characterization "mind was blown" was used only in the questions propounded to the witness by 
defense counsel, and Silver never adopted it as her own testimony. In any event, the difference 
between a "blown" mind and a "blank" mind, if any, was inconsequential.7 In conclusion, Goodall's 
attorney, exploiting what few inconsistencies were available to him in an attempt to impeach the 
State's witnesses, succeeded in getting as much mileage as it was possible to get; even if he had the 
trial transcript available, there was simply nothing more that he could have placed before the jury.

Finally, the evidence of defendant's guilt was so overwhelming as to make any impeachment of the 
prosecution witnesses of no consequence whatever in the final result of the jury's deliberations. 
Defendant's confession to officer Millett that he and Smith had beaten up Grant and that they had 
done it using their fists and feet as weapons was, in and of itself, completely adequate to support the 
finding of guilt. Furthermore, Goodall himself took the stand (as he had at the first trial) and on the 
nub of the State's case acknowledged his presence at the scene of the crime and acknowledged that 
he "nudged" Grant with his feet. Although collateral to the specific facts of the homicide itself, 
defendant corroborated from the witness stand virtually every bit of damaging testimony that had 
come in throughout the course of the trial. Specifically, he admitted that Sharon Silver's version of 
the "bizarre sexual things" that occurred in his apartment was substantially accurate. In detail after 
detail, he admitted his participation in the succession of violent events leading up to the brutal, final 
act of that morning's tragic drama — including the incident with the dog, the confrontation with Mr. 
Laidlaw, the events in Mr. Young's apartment, the incident involving the paperboy.

Having regard to all of the circumstances of this case, it is difficult to imagine a clearer case of 
harmless error. There could not be a more appropriate application of the rule of Chapman v. 
California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967), that even constitutional error, such as the 
denial of the trial transcript to this defendant, is not a ground for reversal if the reviewing court is 
"able to declare a belief . . . beyond a reasonable doubt," id. at 24, 87 S.Ct. at 828, that nothing defense 
counsel could have done with the transcript would have had any effect upon the jury's determination 
of guilt. To reverse Goodall's conviction, because his counsel did not have a transcript of his first 
trial, would — in our judgment — turn a Britt violation into a per se reversible error. That we are not 
willing to do. We cannot emphasize enough, however, the necessity that our trial courts accord 
indigent defendants their constitutional right to a free transcript of prior proceedings to aid them in 
making an effective defense or appeal. State v. Curtis, supra. Exercise of that right may not be made 
contingent upon the defendant's showing a "particularized need." Britt v. North Carolina, supra 404 
U.S. at 228, 92 S.Ct. 431.

II. Accomplice Liability

Charged in the indictment with "depraved indifference" murder, defendant requested and received a 
jury instruction on the lesser included offense of manslaughter. The trial justice told the jury that it 
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could convict on either of two theories of criminal liability — either as a principal or as an 
accomplice. Outlining for the jury the elements of accomplice liability as it related to the crime of 
manslaughter, the justice instructed the jury as follows:

[Y]ou would have to find that the defendant intended to promote or facilitate the commission of an 
aggravated assault . . .; that he aided or agreed to aid or attempted to aid such other person in 
planning or committing the aggravated assault; thirdly, that the manslaughter by criminal negligence 
was committed by some other participant in the aggravated assault; and, fourth, that the commission 
of this manslaughter was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the defendant's conduct.

Defendant challenges that portion of the instruction allowing the jury to convict if they found that he 
intended to promote the crime of aggravated assault. He contends that the instruction was erroneous 
because it failed to require the jury to find that he had the specific subjective intent to promote or 
facilitate the commission of the crime charged — i.e., manslaughter. He argues that it was error to 
construe the statute as imposing criminal liability upon defendants for crimes that, though 
reasonably foreseeable, were unintended.

The accomplice statute, 17-A M.R.S.A. § 57(3)(A), provides that a "person is an accomplice of another 
person in the commission of a crime" if:

A. With the intent of promoting or facilitating the commission of the crime, he solicits such other 
person to commit the crime, or aids or agrees to aid or attempts to aid such other person in planning 
or committing the crime. A person is an accomplice under this subsection to any crime the 
commission of which was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of his conduct;

Defendant contends that the words "the crime" used in the first sentence of subsection 3(A) refer to 
"the crime" with which the principal is charged and that the second sentence merely places a 
limitation upon accomplice liability — namely, that the commission of the principal's crime must be 
a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the defendant's conduct.

The State contends that the first and second sentences should be read independently and, 
specifically, that the second is not meant as a limitation on the scope of the first sentence but rather 
as an extension of the liability imposed by it. Under the first sentence, it is argued, liability for a 
"primary crime" (here aggravated assault) is established by proof that the actor intended to promote 
or facilitate that crime.8 Under the second sentence, liability for any "secondary crime" (here 
manslaughter) that may have been committed by the principal is established upon a two-fold 
showing: (a) that the actor intended to promote the primary crime, and (b) that the commission of the 
secondary crime was a "foreseeable consequence" of the actor's participation in the primary crime.

We conclude that the latter interpretation correctly states the law. The history of the statute 
demonstrates that the legislature indeed intended to impose liability upon accomplices for those 
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crimes that were the reasonably foreseeable consequence of their criminal enterprise, 
notwithstanding an absence on their part of the same culpability required for conviction as a 
principal to the crime.

The accomplice statute, like much of the rest of our Criminal Code, is based largely on the Model 
Penal Code. The first sentence of section 57(3)(A) tracks the language of section 2.06(3)(a) of the 
Model Penal Code, Prop. Off. Draft (1962). The drafters of the Model Code rejected the "foreseeable 
consequence" rule of accomplice liability, as indicated in their Comment on that section, Tent. Draft 
No. 1, at 26 (1953), and section 2.06(4) specifically provides:

When causing a particular result is an element of an offense, an accomplice in the conduct causing 
such result is an accomplice in the commission of that offense, if he acts with the kind of culpability, 
if any, with respect to that result that is sufficient for the commission of the offense.

The original draft of proposed section 57 of our Criminal Code, transmitted to the Criminal Law 
Revision Commission on June 6, 1973, by Chief Counsel Sanford J. Fox, contained a subsection 4 
identical to Model Penal Code § 2.06(4) and a subsection 3(A) consisting of a single sentence 
substantially the same as the first sentence of our present section 57(3)(A). Twelve days later the 
Commission met to discuss that submission. With specific regard to the section on accomplice 
liability, the minutes of that meeting contain a notation as follows:

A motion was carried to amend to incorporate the statement that complicity be extended to things 
reasonably foreseeable as well as those subject to agreement . . .. (Emphasis added)

In the final draft of the proposed code that was submitted to and passed by the legislature, 
subsection 4 of the Chief Counsel's draft was eliminated and the second sentence of the present 
section 57(3)(A) was added. Thus it is clear that the Commission rejected the approach embodied in 
the Model Penal Code and endorsed instead the "foreseeable consequence" rule of accomplice 
liability. By enacting the broader accomplice provision submitted to it by the Commission, the 
legislature was doing nothing more than adopting the "established rule"9 of accomplice liability, a 
rule that was approved by this court in a pre-Code case, State v. Simpson, Me., 276 A.2d 292, 295 & n. 
2 (1971), and that has been similarly adopted in recent criminal law codifications in other states.10

In the circumstances of this case it was not necessary under section 57(3)(A) for the State to prove 
that Goodall subjectively intended to promote or facilitate the crime of manslaughter in order to 
convict him of being Smith's accomplice. It was sufficient to show only that he intended to promote 
or facilitate some other crime — in this instance assault or aggravated assault — as long as the State 
could also prove that the commission of manslaughter was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of 
Goodall's conduct in aiding Smith to commit that other crime. The presiding justice's instruction 
correctly stated the law of accomplice liability.
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III. Lesser Included Offenses

Defendant requested jury instructions on the following offenses: manslaughter,11 aggravated assault,12

 assault,13 and reckless conduct.14 The presiding justice agreed to instruct on manslaughter but 
refused to instruct on the other three offenses, ruling that they were not lesser included offenses of 
the crime of "depraved indifference" murder as defined in section 201(1)(B). On appeal, defendant 
contends that it was error to refuse the requested instructions.

The test for determining whether one offense is a lesser included offense of another is stated in State 
v. Leeman, Me., 291 A.2d 709 (1972): the lesser offense, as legally defined, must necessarily be a 
constituent part of the greater offense, as legally defined. As this court in Leeman, id. at 711, stated, 
quoting Professor Orfield:

To be necessarily included in the greater offense, the lesser offense must be such that it is impossible 
to commit the greater without having committed the lesser.

Simply stated, the Leeman test requires us to compare the elements of the greater offense with the 
elements of the lesser. In looking to the legal definition of the greater offense in order to ascertain its 
elements, "it is not necessary that every distinct, defined method of committing [the] greater offense" 
be taken as the frame of reference for comparison with the lesser offense. State v. Luce, Me., 394 A.2d 
770, 773 (1978) (emphasis omitted). Rather, one must look to the particular subdivision of the generic 
offense that is charged in the indictment or information. Id.

On the other hand, when looking at the lesser offense, we examine all subdivisions of the generic 
lesser crime, as defined by the Code or other statute, to see if any one of them is an included offense. 
If any manner of committing the lesser offense as statutorily defined would necessarily be 
established by proof of the greater offense, that type or subdivision of the lesser offense is "included" 
in the greater offense charged. The presiding justice must then instruct the jury on that lesser 
included offense, if the defendant so requests, subject only to the limitation imposed by 17-A 
M.R.S.A. § 13(2) that the evidence provides "a rational basis for the jury finding the defendant guilty 
of such lesser offense."15

Let us turn now to the case at bar. The indictment charged Goodall with violating section 201(1)(B), 
which provides that a person is guilty of murder if:

He engages in conduct which manifests a depraved indifference to the value of human life and which 
in fact causes the death of another human being.

Thus, Goodall was indicted and tried for "depraved indifference" murder under section 201(1)(B), 
rather than murder committed "intentionally or knowingly" under section 201(1)(A). The Code 
definition of "depraved indifference" murder must then be the starting point for our analysis of 
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whether aggravated assault, simple assault, and reckless conduct are lesser included offenses of the 
crime for which Goodall was charged.

In State v. Woodbury, Me., 403 A.2d 1166 (1979), this court held that in a prosecution for "depraved 
indifference" murder the State is not required to prove that the defendant was subjectively 
indifferent to the value of human life, but rather that his conduct, objectively viewed by a reasonable 
person, "manifest[ed] a depraved indifference to the value of human life." In contrast, the crimes of 
aggravated assault (§ 208), simple assault (§ 207), and reckless conduct (§ 211) all require the State to 
prove that the defendant acted, at the very least, "recklessly." As defined in the Code,16 recklessness 
involves a "conscious disregard" of a risk. By definition, "conscious disregard" is a subjective state of 
mind. Thus, whereas the inquiry in a prosecution for "depraved indifference" murder is, as this court 
explained in Woodbury, an objective one and requires no evidence whatever of the defendant's 
subjective state of mind, the other three offenses do require an affirmative showing by the State of 
the defendant's subjective state of mind. Accordingly, those other offenses are not lesser included 
offenses of "depraved indifference" murder; proof of a violation of section 201(1)(B) does not 
"necessarily include" proof of aggravated assault, simple assault, or reckless conduct under the 
Leeman test.17 The requested instructions were properly refused.18

IV. Speedy Trial Right

Defendant argues that the delay of some eight months between his arrest and the commencement of 
his first trial denied him the right to a speedy trial guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth 
Amendments to the federal Constitution.19 In Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 
101 (1972), which has been applied on numerous occasions by this court, the Supreme Court held that 
in evaluating a claim that the right to a speedy trial has been violated we must engage in a balancing 
test in which the conduct of both the defense and the prosecution are to be weighed.20

The length of the delay is to some extent a triggering mechanism. Until there is some delay which is 
presumptively prejudicial, there is no necessity for inquiry into the other factors that go into the 
balance. Nevertheless, because of the imprecision of the right to speedy trial, the length of delay that 
will provoke such an inquiry is necessarily dependent upon the peculiar circumstances of the case. 
To take but one example, the delay that can be tolerated for an ordinary street crime is considerably 
less than for a serious, complex conspiracy charge.

Id. at 530-31, 92 S.Ct. at 2192 (emphasis added). In view of the time and effort that both the defense 
and prosecution ordinarily require to prepare for the trial of a complicated murder case, such as this 
one, we doubt whether the eight-month delay takes defendant's claim over the threshold in order to 
justify further inquiry into the other factors enunciated in Barker. See State v. Catlin, Me., 392 A.2d 
27, 32 (1978).

In any event, however, analysis of the other factors would have led us to the same conclusion: there 
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was no violation of defendant's right to a speedy trial in the instant case. A substantial portion of the 
delay of eight months "was attributable to either [defendant's] own actions or to circumstances 
beyond the control of the prosecution," State v. Lewis, Me., 373 A.2d 603, 609 (1977), and therefore 
cannot be charged against the State in determining the speedy trial claim. Although defendant filed a 
motion for a speedy trial on April 20, 1978, even before the indictment against him was returned, the 
assertion of his right at that time seems to have been pro forma in nature.21 Lastly, defendant has 
failed to show any actual prejudice resulting from the period of delay between his arrest and trial. See 
State v. Brann, Me., 292 A.2d 173 (1972); State v. Carlson, Me., 308 A.2d 294 (1973). Quite on the 
contrary, the record indicates that the period of delay actually was used to his benefit in connection 
with various pretrial matters, including his request for a psychiatric evaluation at the State's expense.

In conclusion, there appears to have been little, if any, footdragging by the prosecution in getting 
this case to trial. Certainly there is not the slightest indication of any bad faith or improper motive 
on the State's part. Mindful that a central purpose of our inquiry is to prevent "delay which is either 
purposeful or oppressive," State v. Bessey, Me., 328 A.2d 807, 818 (1974), we are satisfied that the 
eight-month span between arrest and trial was not at all inconsistent with due process.

V. Unanimous Jury Verdict

Defendant complains that the trial justice erred in failing to instruct the jury that its verdict must be 
unanimous both as to the offense and as to the theory of criminal liability — i.e., principal or 
accomplice liability. Defendant contends that under the Maine Constitution22 and Rule 31(a), M.R. 
Crim.P.,23 a general verdict of guilty may not stand if it is possible that the jury arrived at its 
conclusion by a divided vote — i.e., some jurors voting for conviction on a principal theory, some 
voting for conviction on an accomplice theory, but no unanimous vote on either theory. Defendant 
further contends that, having failed to give the requested instruction, the justice should have taken 
other measures to insure "theory unanimity," such as by polling the jurors to determine upon what 
theory they had based their guilty verdict.

We do not reach the question raised by defendant because we conclude that the presiding justice, in 
instructing the jury to follow a structured sequence in the conduct of its deliberations, fully ensured a 
unanimous verdict both as to the offense and the theory of liability. We express no opinion, however, 
on whether such "theory unanimity" was legally required. In any event the jury necessarily 
understood from the charge that they needed to be unanimous on the theory of criminal liability.

In the general portion of his charge, the justice instructed the jury that the State had the burden of 
proving beyond a reasonable doubt "the essential elements of the offense charged, or any lesser 
included offense." He also told them that their verdict must be unanimous. In specific terms, he 
instructed them seriatim as to the elements of murder-principal, murder-accomplice, 
manslaughter-principal, and manslaughter-accomplice. He told them that they were to consider each 
offense in that order, proceeding to the next theory only after they had rejected the previous theory. 
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Following these instructions, there were only two ways in which the jury could have returned its 
verdict finding defendant Goodall guilty of manslaughter: (1) having just rejected the 
murder-accomplice theory, they voted unanimously for guilty of manslaughter-principal, or (2) 
having just rejected manslaughter-principal, they voted unanimously for guilty of 
manslaughter-accomplice.

VI. Other Claimed Errors

Defendant also claims error in the presiding justice's refusal to instruct the jury that a finding of 
defendant's criminal liability could not be predicated on any legal duty on his part to prevent or stop 
a fight between Smith and the victim Grant. The issue of criminal liability for an omission to act, see 
17-A M.R.S.A. § 51(2), was neither raised by the evidence nor relied upon by the prosecution to prove 
its case.

Defendant contends that the statements he made to officer Millett, which the officer related from the 
witness stand, were obtained in violation of Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 
L.Ed.2d 694 (1966). Our review of the pertinent circumstances confirms the correctness of the 
justice's refusal to suppress the confessions.

Finally, defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support the guilty verdict. This 
contention is utterly without merit. The State's case against Goodall was very substantial and 
compelling.

The entry will be:

Appeal denied.

Judgment of conviction affirmed.

1. The experienced trial lawyer appointed to represent Goodall prior to that initial hearing has represented Goodall 
throughout both trials and this appeal. He was appointed by the District Court on March 24, the day after Goodall was 
arrested.

2. In Britt, the Supreme Court held that denial of the transcript in that case was not error; it found that the defendant 
"had available an informal alternative which appears to be substantially equivalent to a transcript." Id. at 230, 92 S.Ct. at 
435.

[P]etitioner could have obtained from the court reporter far more assistance than that available to the ordinary defendant, 
or to the defendant in [United States ex rel.] Wilson [v. McMann, 408 F.2d 896 (2d Cir. 1969)]. The trials of this case took 
place in a small town where, according to petitioner's counsel, the court reporter was a good friend of all the local lawyers 
and was reporting the second trial. It appears that the reporter would at any time have read back to counsel his notes of 
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the mistrial, well in advance of the second trial, if counsel had simply made an informal request.

Id. at 229, 92 S.Ct. at 434-35.

3. These two uses are identified by the Court in Britt, supra 404 U.S. at 228, 92 S.Ct. 431.

4. Pursuant to Rules 801(d)(1) and 804(b)(1), M.R.Evid. See also Curtis, supra at 1332 n. 3.

5. We note that not only did counsel have the full transcript of the probable cause hearing for such purposes, but he also 
engaged a private investigator to work on the case. Further, although the defense motion for the trial transcript was 
submitted one week after the first trial ended, it was not ruled upon until one week before the second trial commenced. If 
counsel had desired the transcript for trial preparation, it was his responsibility to bring the motion forward for a speedy 
adjudication. State v. Vose, Me., 402 A.2d 869, 870 (1979).

6. Furthermore, as already mentioned, defense counsel had, and made use of, the hearing transcript containing the 
testimony of the State's key witnesses.

7. We quite agree with the presiding justice's remarks concerning that line of questioning. Having overruled the 
prosecutor's objection, and having offered to let the court reporter search her notes for Silver's prior testimony, he added:

I can't imagine that it makes much difference in this trial whether her mental state at that point is described as near 
nervous breakdown or blown. I don't know and no one else in this courtroom knows what a blown mind is. But if counsel 
insist that they want to fritter the court's time away with the description of "blown," then you may do it until you have 
satisfied yourselves to the nth degree. So continue on.

8. This is, of course, in addition to proof that the defendant aided in the commission of the crime and that the crime was 
in fact committed by another.

9. LaFave & Scott, Criminal Law § 65, at 515, 516 n. 22 (1972).

10. Kan.Stat. § 21-3205(2) (1974); Minn.Stat.Ann. § 609.05(2) (West 1964); Wis.Stat.Ann. § 939.05(2)(c) (West 1958).

11. 17-A M.R.S.A. § 203(1)(A).

12. Id. § 208(1).

13. Id. § 207(1).

14. Id. § 211(1).

15. See, e.g., State v. Smith, Me., 382 A.2d 40 (1978), where refusal to instruct on a lesser included offense was held proper 
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under 17-A M.R.S.A. § 13(2).

16. 17-A M.R.S.A. § 10(3) defines "recklessly" as follows:

A. A person acts recklessly with respect to a result of his conduct when he consciously disregards a risk that his conduct 
will cause such a result.

B. A person acts recklessly with respect to attendant circumstances when he consciously disregards a risk that such 
circumstances exist.

C. For purposes of this subsection, the disregard of the risk, when viewed in light of the nature and purpose of the 
person's conduct and the circumstances known to him, must involve a gross deviation from the standard of conduct that a 
reasonable and prudent person would observe in the same situation. (Emphasis added)

17. It is also clear that the instruction on manslaughter, of which Goodall was ultimately convicted, was required under 
Leeman, since that offense may be committed with "criminal negligence," another objective standard. See 17-A M.R.S.A. 
§ 10(4).

18. We are well aware that the "depraved indifference to the value of human life" which the State must prove under 
section 201(1)(B) is often referred to by trial courts as a "state of mind." Whether or not that short-hand characterization 
is inapt or possibly confusing, we reiterate what is clear from our holding in Woodbury: the particular element of the 
State's proof that is the subject of this discussion is not a "culpable mental state" as that term is used in the criminal 
code. See 17-A M.R.S.A. § 10 (definition of "culpable mental states") and 11 (requirement of "culpable mental states" in 
proof of the crime). Section 11(1) thus has no application here; to hold otherwise would be to abolish any distinction 
between intentionally or knowingly caused murder under subsection 1(A) and "depraved indifference" murder under 
subsection 1(B) of section 201.

19. Defendant also asserts as a separate ground the speedy trial right embodied in 34 M.R.S.A. § 1391-92. That statute, 
which governs prosecutions against persons who have "entered upon a term of imprisonment in a penal or correctional 
institution of this State," is not applicable here.

20. The Court identified four factors to be considered: the length of the delay, the reasons advanced to explain the delay, 
the timeliness of the defendant's assertion of his speedy trial right, and the prejudice, if any, occasioned by the delay. Id. 
407 U.S. at 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182.

21. Although the motion was filed on April 20, it was neither heard nor ruled upon until August 3, nearly three and 
one-half months later. While it is the State's responsibility to give the defendant a speedy trial, it was defense counsel's 
responsibility to arrange to have his motion heard. See State v. Vose, Me., 402 A.2d 869, 870 (1979).

22. The second sentence of Me. Const. art. I, § 7 provides:
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The Legislature shall provide by law a suitable and impartial mode of selecting juries, and their usual number and 
unanimity, in indictments and convictions, shall be held indispensable.

23. The first sentence of Rule 31(a), M.R. Crim.P., reads, "The verdict shall be unanimous."
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